Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-4-2016

H2O Environmental, Inc. v. Proimtu MMI, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44148

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

H2O Environmental, Inc. ("H2O") seeks a determination that Idaho courts have specific personal jurisdiction over out-of-state Defendant Proimtu, MMI, LLC ("Proimtu"). More specifically, Plaintiff/Appellant seeks a ruling that where Proimtu contracted with H2O for H2O to provide weekly payroll services and Proimtu was put on notice at the inception of the contractual relationship that those services were going to be provided at H2O's Boise office utilizing H2O's Boise bank for processing, Idaho's exercise of jurisdiction over Proimtu comports with the minimum contacts standards established by cases interpreting the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution. Alternatively, Proimtu made a general appearance and submitted to Idaho jurisdiction by filing a pleading in this case which is not exempted by Rule 4.1(b).

B. Concise Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings Below

Plaintiff/Appellant H2O is a Nevada company registered with the Idaho Secretary of the State to do business in Idaho, and is headquartered in Boise, Idaho. R. Vol. I, p. 36, ¶3. Defendant/Respondent Proimtu is also a Nevada company that managed construction services on behalf of its general contractor TRP International ("TRP") at a solar-panel plant outside of Tonapah, Nevada. R. Vol. I, pp. 12, 38. In November 2012, Proimtu and H2O entered into an oral contract wherein H2O agreed to manage the hiring, compensation, and Davis Bacon wage reporting of construction labor employees on behalf of Proimtu at the Tonapah solar-panel plant. R. Vol. I, p. 36, ¶4.

The oral contract (hereinafter "Payroll Contract") was consummated through an exchange of phone calls and emails between Proimtu and H2O's CFO, Ed Savre, and CEO, John Bradley,

respectively, both of whom were located in Boise, Idaho. R. Vol. 1, p. 36, ¶5, 6. At the onset of the contract, Proimtu sent an email request to John Bradley in Boise, Idaho requesting H2O fill out a W-9 form. R. Vol. 1, p. 36, ¶7. The executed W-9 was sent to Proimtu's Gabriel Gonzalez on October 8, 2012. R. Vol. 1, p. 47-50. Both the W-9 and Ed Savre's email signature showed H2O's address to be 6679 S. Supply Way, Boise, Idaho 83716. R. Vol. 1, p. 36, ¶7, p. 47-50. On the same date, CFO Savre also sent H2O's bank information to Proimtu, which identified the bank that would be handling the Payroll Contract as Wells Fargo located at "1205 S. Broadway Ave, Boise, ID 83706." R. Vol. I, pp. 37, ¶12 and p. 51-53. Again, Mr. Savre's email address showed a location of 6679 S. Supply Way, Boise, Idaho 83716. *Id*.

All the services H2O provided under the Payroll Contract were provided from Boise. R. Vol. I, pp. 36-37, ¶¶9-13. From Boise, H2O conducted pre-employment screening of potential employees selected by Proimtu. R. Vol. I, p. 37, ¶10. H2O also completed the hiring process of Proimtu's Tonapah employees from Boise. R. Vol. I, p. 37, ¶11. H2O completed the Proimtu laborers' weekly Davis Bacon wage reporting from Boise. R. Vol. 1, p.37, ¶13. Proimtu sent weekly emails to Mr. Savre, in Boise, from approximately December 2012 through April 2013 regarding the weekly hours of the employees for whom H2O was to process payroll. R. Vol. 1, p.37, ¶14. H2O provided the employees' weekly paychecks via direct deposit from its Boise-based bank account that it had identified for Mr. Gonzalez when the contract was entered. R. Vol. 1, p.37, ¶12.

After H2O would process Proimtu's weekly payroll, Proimtu would send a check to H2O in Boise to reimburse it for the payroll costs. R. Vol. 1, p.37, ¶15, pp. 96-97. Proimtu always made the weekly reimbursement payment to H2O in Boise for approximately 28 weeks, until June 2013. R. Vol. 1, p.37, ¶16.

In May of 2013, the U. S. Department of Labor began investigating Proimtu and determined that some of the employees hired by H2O on behalf of Proimtu for the Tonapah contract were misclassified. R. Vol. I, pp. 37-38, ¶17. As a result of the Department of Labor's findings, Proimtu's general contractor, TRP, paid the additional back wages owed to the Tonapah contract employees. R. Vol. I, p. 38, ¶18. In 2014, the U.S. Department of Labor demanded H2O pay \$28,832.21 in additional employer taxes due to TRP's additional payment of back wages. R. Vol. I, p. 38, ¶19 pp. 98-106. Upon H2O's receipt of the first U.S. Department of Labor demand notice, and the subsequent bill from the IRS, H2O sent Proimtu an invoice for the additional Payroll Contract costs. R. Vol. I, p. 38, ¶23, 107-108. Throughout the summer of 2014, Proimtu refused to pay H2O's July 1, 2014 invoice for the employer taxes owed to the IRS. R. Vol. I, p. 38, ¶24.

To date, Proimtu has refused to reimburse H2O for the additional Tonapah contract costs. H2O was forced to pay the IRS \$28,832.21 for the employees Proimtu utilized and, despite having made every other Payroll Contract reimbursement, Proimtu has refused to pay the \$28,832.21 IRS bill.

H2O filed this action April 7, 2015, seeking reimbursement for the taxes it paid on behalf of the Proimtu laborers.¹ R. Vol. I., pp. 4-8. On August 21, 2015, Proimtu filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction.² R. Vol. I, pp. 9-10. In its reply brief Proimtu provided its only evidence in support of the motion, the Affidavit of Gabriel Gonzalez in Support of Defendant's Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction. R. Vol. I, pp. 119-121. Gonzalez' affidavit included as Exhibit A the Nevada Secretary of State website printout for H2O showing that H2O is a Nevada Corporation, of which all officers have the same

_

¹ The amount pled in the Complaint is less than the \$28,832.21 as the result of a scrivener's error.

² Proimtu has still not answered and has still not asserted any excuse for non-payment of the payroll expense.

Boise address that was on the emails and the W-9 statement provided to Mr. Gonzalez on October 8, 2012, (6679 S. Supply Way, Boise, ID 83716). R. Vol. I, pp. 122-128. Essentially Mr. Gonzalez admits that he sent emails and paystubs to H2O's Boise address and that he made phone calls to H2O's representatives in Idaho, but professes that, because of a *different* written contract with H2O, he believed H2O was doing business in Arizona. R. Vol. I, p. 120, ¶6. Other than disclaiming any intention to do business in Idaho (despite the overwhelming evidence to the contrary in C.F.O. Savre's Affidavit, R. Vol. I., pp. 35-108) and professing that he never "intentionally travelled to Idaho," Mr. Gonzalez provides no other evidence to support Proimtu's position. R. Vol. I, pp. 119-149.

In its Memorandum Decision and Order, the District Court concluded, "that (Proimtu) transacted business within the state of Idaho for purposes of application of Idaho's long-arm statute." R. Vol. I, p. 153. However, the District Court proceeded to find that H2O had failed to establish the requisite minimum contacts with Idaho and granted Proimtu's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. R. Vol. 1, p. 155, 156.

On April 13, 2016, Proimtu filed a Statement of Costs and served it on Plaintiff/Appellant's Counsel. R. Vol. I, pp. 160-169. On April 29, 2016, Plaintiff/Appellant filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment & Request for Oral Argument. R. Vol. II, pp. 183-187. In its motion to vacate the judgment, H2O asserted that Proimtu made a general appearance pursuant to Rule 4.1(a) by requesting relief in the form of costs and attorney fees because the Statement of Costs filed by Proimtu is not an exception set forth in Rule 4.1(b). R. Vol. II, pp. 183-187. A hearing on these motions was held on June 9, 2016, and on June 17, 2016, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision and Order. R. Vol. II, pp. 245-250. While the Court recognized that Proimtu's Statement of Costs was not an exception set forth in Rule 4.1(b), it held that the

Statement of Costs did not constitute a general appearance and voluntary submission to the personal jurisdiction of the Court because it was not "a request for affirmative relief." R. Vol. II, pp. 246-248.

The Court's initial Judgment dismissing Proimtu for want of personal jurisdiction was entered on March 30, 2016. R. Vol. I, pp. 158-159. Pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 11(a)(1) H2O filed its initial Notice of Appeal on April 29, 2016. R. Vol. I, p. 170-173.

The Court's Memorandum Decision and Order, disposing of H2O's general appearance argument, was entered on June 17, 2016. On July 28, 2016, Proimtu appealed from that decision³ and filed a Notice of Cross Appeal.⁴ On August 4, 2016, H2O filed an Amended Notice of Appeal, now including a cross appeal to Proimtu's appeal of the June 17, 2016 Memorandum Decision and Order. In sum, H2O appeals from March 30, 2016 Judgment dismissing Proimtu for want of minimum contacts and both parties appeal from the June 17, 2016 Memorandum Decision and Order.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the District Court erred by failing to view evidence presented in the light most favorable to H2O, and by failing to give H2O all reasonable inferences which can be drawn therefrom.
- 2. Whether Proimtu's contacts with Idaho constitute minimum contacts as required by the 14th Amendment of the United States Constitution.
- 3. Whether Proimtu's filing of its Statement of Costs constitutes a general appearance and voluntary submission to personal jurisdiction in Idaho.

³ The Court's June 17 Memorandum Decision and Order also denied Proimtu's request for costs and attorney fees.

⁴ Since it was an appeal from a court order, different than the subject of H2O's original Notice of Appeal, it was not a cross appeal of H2O's initial notice.

III. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

H2O is not seeking attorney fees on appeal, but reserves the right to subsequently request such fees in the event this case is remanded and H2O prevails at trial.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court freely reviews questions of law. *Goodman Oil Co. v. Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc.*, 147 Idaho 56, 58, 205 P.3d 1192, 1194 (2009). When reviewing a motion to dismiss based on lack of personal jurisdiction, the court applies the same standard as when reviewing appeals from summary judgment orders; the court "construe[s] the evidence presented to the district court in favor of the party opposing the order and accord[s] that party the benefit of all inferences which might be reasonably drawn." *Knutsen v. Cloud*, 142 Idaho 148, 150, 124 P.3d 1024, 1026 (2005) (citing *Houghland Farms, Inc. v. Johnson*, 119 Idaho 72, 74–75, 803 P.2d 978, 980–81 (1990)). An appeal from an order of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo. Houpt v. Wells Fargo Bank, Nat. Ass'n*, 160 Idaho 181, 389, 370 P.3d 384, 390 (2016), *reh'g denied* (Mar. 10, 2016). Additionally, conflicts between parties over statements contained in affidavits must be resolved in the plaintiff's favor. *Dole Food Co. v. Watts*, 303 F.3d 1104, 1108 (9th Cir. 2002). An issue of fact still remains as to whether Proimtu purposely directed activity toward Idaho. Apart from this issue of fact, the sole dispute is whether the Idaho District Court has personal jurisdiction over the out-of-state Defendant: a pure question of law.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court erred by failing to view the evidence in the light most favorable to H2O and by failing to give H2O all reasonable inferences which can be drawn therefrom.

The personal jurisdiction motion was decided on two affidavits: one from H2O's CFO, Ed Savre and one from Proimtu's Chief Operating Officer, Gabriel Gonzalez. In making factual

determinations the trial court was required to construe these two affidavits in the light most favorable to H2O, but failed to do so.

i. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Savre's email failed to warn Proimtu that the work it was requesting was being performed by people in Idaho.

The trial court determined, "that an email address such as "esavre@h2oenvironmental.net" would not give fair warning of the physical location of the person receiving an email communication at that email address. In reaching that conclusion the trial court ignored the signature line on the email Mr. Savre sent to Mr. Gonzalez when he returned the W-9 form that Proimtu requested. Mr. Savre's physical address, in Boise, is clearly printed below his name and the H2O logo. R. Vol. I, p. 47. Drawing all evidentiary inference in H2O's favor, as the trial court was required to do, would lead to the conclusion that Mr. Gonzalez knew he was dealing with someone who was physically present in Boise. The court's contrary conclusion was erroneous.

ii. The trial court erred by failing to reach the conclusion that Proimtu knew the services it had bargained for were being performed in Idaho.

The trial court focused on the fact that the work Proimtu performed on the Tonapah project was performed in Nevada. However, all the work performed under the Payroll Contract, the breach of which is the subject of this suit, was performed in Idaho and the evidence overwhelmingly demonstrates that Proimtu was well aware of that at the inception of the contract. The W-9 form requested by Proimtu to set up the Payroll Contract clearly identified H2O's Boise address. R. Vol. 1, p. 50. Likewise, the bank information that was provided to Proimtu identified H2O's Boise address and provided notice they would be using a Boise bank branch to process wire transfers. R. Vol. 1, p. 53. These documents were sent to Proimtu before the work under the Payroll Contract

began. Drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of H2O, Proimtu clearly knew that the work it requested was being performed in Idaho.

iii. The Court erred in finding that Proimtu's weekly mailing of payroll funds to Boise was the result of H2O's unilateral activity.

Not only did Proimtu have the tax form, email address and bank information to put it on notice that the services it negotiated for were being performed in Idaho, it was required, as part of the Payroll Contract, to send its checks to the same Boise location where the services were performed. Proimtu purposefully availed itself from the outset of the Payroll Contract of the privilege of conducting activities in Idaho. H2O's requirement to send the checks to Boise was known to and honored by Proimtu for the entirety of the Payroll Contract.

It is difficult to understand why the trial court considered an agreed to requirement of the contract to be a unilateral act of one of the parties. By its conclusion (the reasoning is not provided) any term of a contract could be considered a unilateral act. That conclusion, however, does not square with either of the two cases the court cited as authority.

In the case of *Southern Idaho Pipe & Steel Co. v. Cal-Cut Pipe & Supply, Inc.*, 98 Idaho 495 (1977), Cal-Cut failingly argued that its contacts with Idaho, the situs of Southern Pipe, was the result of Southern Idaho Pipe's unilateral activity.

Unilateral activity usually will not be sufficient to establish the "minimum contacts" with the forum state envisioned by International Shoe, but when a nonresident defendant initiates contacts with residents of the forum state and those contacts proceed, we think that the constitutional standard of International Shoe is satisfied.

Southern Idaho Pipe, 98 Idaho at 500 (1977).

In the instant case Proimtu initiated a business relationship with H2O and was put on notice the work would be performed in Idaho when it was put in contact with Mr. Savre, who was physically present in Boise. Proimtu was also put on notice that its checks would be sent to Boise

and that H2O would be using a Boise bank. Those contacts then proceeded for the duration of the Payroll Contract, approximately 28 weeks. Under Southern Pipe, the minimum contacts standard has been met.

In *Hanson v. Denckla*, 357 U.S. 235, 78 S. Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d 1283 (1958), the United States Supreme Court concluded that the minimum contacts requirement had not been met. In *Hanson*, a Florida court attempted to exercise jurisdiction over a non-resident trustee because the trust settlor and most of the appointees and beneficiaries were domiciled in Florida. However, in jurisdictional decisions it is the putative defendant's acts and presence which must be analyzed, not those of the other parties. The Supreme Court found that the defendant trust company transacted no business in Florida.

In the immediate case Proimtu was put on notice prior to the beginning of the Payroll Contract that the work would be performed in Idaho. Proimtu then continuously directed email to Boise with payroll information and continuously sent checks to Boise to cover the payroll services. This was not a unilateral act of the Plaintiff/Appellant, but an agreed upon element of the Payroll Contract. The trial court erred in determining that Proimtu's direction of payroll information and mailing of the checks to Boise were unilateral acts of H2O.

B. The trial court erred in finding that Proimtu's contacts were insufficient to invoke specific personal jurisdiction in Idaho.

In order for an Idaho Court to exercise personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state defendant, the plaintiff must meet two criteria; "the act giving rise to the cause of action must fall within the scope of [Idaho's] long-arm statute and the constitutional standards of due process must be met." Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. State of Wash., 123 Idaho 739, 742, 852 P.2d 491, 494 (1993); see also, Schneider v. Sverdsten Logging Co., 104 Idaho 210, 211, 657 P.2d 1078, 1079 (1983). In its Memorandum Decision and Order, the District Court found that under the Payroll Contract,

Proimtu transacted business in Idaho for purposes of application of Idaho's long arm statute. R. Vol. I, p. 153. As such, this Court need only look to the Due Process Clause to determine whether Idaho has personal jurisdiction.

The District Court's exercise of jurisdiction over Proimtu is consistent with this country's notion of due process so long as Proimtu "has 'certain minimum contacts' with the forum such that maintenance of the suit does not offend 'traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Yahoo! Inc. v. La Ligue Contre Le Racisme Et L'Antisemitisme*, 433 F.3d 1199, 1205 (9th Cir. 2006) (quoting *International Shoe Co., v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S.Ct. 154, 158, 90 L.Ed. 95, 101-02 (1945). "Unless a defendant's contacts with a forum are so substantial, continuous, and systematic that the defendant can be deemed to be 'present' in that forum for all purposes, a forum may exercise only 'specific' jurisdiction—that is, jurisdiction based on the relationship between the defendant's forum contacts and the plaintiff's claim." *Id.* Here Idaho has acquired specific jurisdiction because H2O's claim, that Proimtu failed to reimburse it for payroll taxes, arises from Proimtu's contacts with Idaho, specifically its Payroll Contract with H2O and its direction of payroll information and previous reimbursements to H2O's employees in Boise.

When a plaintiff asks a court to exercise specific jurisdiction over a defendant, the plaintiff must show that "(1) the nonresident defendant purposefully direct[ed] his activities or consummat[ed] some transaction with the forum or resident thereof [(i.e., minimum contacts)]...; (2) the claim arises out of or relates to the defendant's forum related activities; and (3) the exercise of jurisdiction must comport with fair play and substantial justice, i.e. it must be reasonable. *Lake v. Lake*, 817 F.2d 1416, 1421 (9th Cir. 1987). H2O has the burden of satisfying the first two prongs. *Menkem v. Emm*, 503 F.3d 1050, 1057 (9th Cir. 2007). Once H2O makes a prima facie showing on the first two prongs, dismissal is only appropriate if Proimtu carries its "heavy burden of rebutting

the strong presumption in favor of jurisdiction." *Ballard v. Savage*, 65 F.3d 1495, 1500 (1995) (citing *Sher v. Johnson*, 911 F.2d 1357, 1364 (9th Cir.1990) (once court finds purposeful availment, it must presume that jurisdiction would be reasonable)).

C. Because Proimtu knowingly transacted business in Idaho and had continuous and ongoing contact with H2O in Idaho, Proimtu could reasonably anticipate being haled into court in Idaho.

This court should overturn the decision of the District Court because Proimtu purposefully directed its communication and contacts towards Idaho, negotiated and entered into an oral contract with H2O's headquarters in Boise, sent weekly payroll reports to Boise to be processed in Boise, and sent money to H2O in Boise to cover the payroll, taxes and other obligations related to the Payroll Contract employees. Proimtu also directed H2O's Boise office on the hiring and prescreening of the Payroll Contract employees, all of which occurred in Boise.

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