## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-2-2016

### H2O Environmental, Inc. v. Proimtu MMI, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44148

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

# A. <u>Defendant did not purposefully avail itself of the privilege of conducting</u> activities in Idaho.

Plaintiff cites to three separate arguments in an attempt to establish specific personal jurisdiction in Idaho, including: (1) that the email signature of Plaintiff's Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") was sufficient indication of the location of the recipient upon receiving an email; (2) that the payroll work for the Nevada-based Tonopah project was performed in Idaho; and (3) that the location to which payroll was mailed as required by Plaintiff were somehow not the result of H2O's unilateral activity. *See* Appellant's Brief, at 6-9. However, these issues were analyzed by the trial court and that court correctly determined that the alleged contacts were insufficient to invoke specific personal jurisdiction in Idaho.

Plaintiff ignores the case law and analysis which the trial court should and did apply to the issue of specific personal jurisdiction. For the trial court to have personal jurisdiction over Defendant, Defendant must have purposefully availed itself of doing business in the forum. *Boschetto v. Hansing*, 539 F.3d 1011, 1016 (9th Cir. 2008). This means that Defendant "must have 'performed some type of affirmative conduct which allows or promotes the transaction of business within the forum state." *Boschetto*, 539 F.3d at 1016 (quoting *Sher v. Johnson*, 911 F.2d 1357, 1362 (9th Cir. 1990)).

First, the U.S. Supreme Court explicitly, and very recently, held that the relevant jurisdictional question asks "whether the defendant's conduct connects him to the forum in a meaningful way." *Walden v. Fiore*, 134 S.Ct. 1115, 1125 (2014). To answer this question, *Walden* extensively analyzed the issue of whether knowledge of a plaintiff's residence or the

location in which the plaintiff experienced a particular effect is sufficient to constitute purposeful availment and to exert specific personal jurisdiction. *Id.* at 1124-25. The Supreme Court determined that the mere knowledge of such information is insufficient to constitute purposeful availment. *Id.*; see also Phillips v. Prairie Eye Ctr., 530 F.3d 22, 28 (1st Cir. 2008) (noting that courts have held "in a variety of contexts, that the defendant's awareness of the location of the plaintiff is not, on its own, enough to create personal jurisdiction over a defendant"); accord Harlow v. Children's Hosp., 432 F.3d 50 (1st Cir. 2005) (rejecting argument that because defendant knew plaintiff resided in Maine, jurisdiction was proper because "[j]urisdiction cannot be created by and does not travel with the plaintiff patient wherever she goes"). Thus, regardless of whether the email signature of Plaintiff's CFO or the W-9 included an Idaho address, the mere knowledge of the CFO's residence or location is not sufficient to argue that purposeful availment, and by extension personal jurisdiction, exists in this case.

Second, Plaintiff's statements regarding the location of Plaintiff's provision of services to Defendant misconstrues the law. The unilateral activities of the plaintiff are irrelevant under a personal jurisdiction analysis. *Phillips*, 530 F.2d at 28 (requiring that a defendant's contacts "must be deliberate, and 'not based on the unilateral actions of another party") (quoting *Adelson v. Hananel*, 510 F.3d 43, 50 (1st Cir. 2007)). Plaintiff cannot project its own Idaho efforts and activities onto Defendant. If Plaintiff's activities could be imputed to Defendant, every Plaintiff would have the ability to unilaterally confer personal jurisdiction on behalf of any defendant.

Plaintiff's repeated references to its own activities in Idaho are an unpersuasive attempt to claim that Plaintiff was headquartered in Idaho at the time the Parties contracted for construction employment services. However, Plaintiff's argument notably lacks any explanation for why Defendant would have divined Plaintiff's Idaho connection rather than relying on the representation of Plaintiff as a Nevada entity and the location in which the initial contract between the Parties took place. Plaintiff's corporate entry on the Nevada Secretary of State website identifies Plaintiff as a domestic entity. Plaintiff's own website portrays Plaintiff as a Nevada entity in both its description of genesis of the entity and two of its five locations. In the Parties' contract, Plaintiff identified itself as a "Nevada corporation" and identified its place of business as 2364 S. Airport Blvd., Chandler, AZ 85286. With all of this information, Defendant understandably believed that when it entered into the contract with Plaintiff for the Tonopah project, it was contracting with a Nevada entity which performed work in Arizona and Nevada.

Third, minor emails and phone calls are insufficient to subject a defendant to a foreign forum. See Rupert v. Bond, 68 F. Supp. 3d 1142, 1168 (N.D. Cal. 2014) ("Courts have been clear that the sending of a single email, or even a series of emails, by itself, does not amount to purposeful availment."); see e.g., Barrett v. Catacombs Press, 44 F. Supp. 2d 717, 729 (E.D. Pa. 1999) (finding that two emails sent from a defendant to a plaintiff resident in the forum "[d]id not show purposeful availment"); Machulsky v. Hall, 210 F. Supp. 2d 531, 542 (D.N.J. 2002) (holding that "minimal correspondence" via email "does not constitute sufficient minimum contacts" for purposes of personal jurisdiction); Aaron Ferer & Sons Co. v. Atlas Scrap Iron & Metal Co., 558 F.2d 450, 455 (8th Cir. 1977) ("The letters and telephone calls in this purely commercial setting did not supply the necessary minimal contact"); see also Adv. Tactical Ordinance Sys., LLC, 751 F.3d 796, 802-03 (2014) (holding that "[t]he connection between the

place where an email is opened and a lawsuit is entirely fortuitous," and that "as a practical matter, email does not exist in any location at all").

Intermittent correspondence, i.e., an occasional email, phone call, and mailing of a reimbursement check, is the only act by Defendant that Plaintiff alleges alters the nature of Plaintiff's unilateral activity. Plaintiff's arguments conflate Plaintiff's and Defendant's acts to erroneously assert that Defendant availed itself of the opportunity of doing business in Idaho. Defendant never travelled to Idaho at any point during the project or time at issue in the lawsuit. The sole use of email, which is indisputedly the only Idaho-based attenuated contact is the quintessential example of a contact so miniscule and attenuated that the vast majority of courts describe it as so random, fortuitous, or attenuated that it cannot constitute purposeful availment. See e.g., LAK, Inc. v. Deer Creek Enters., 885 F.2d 1293, 1300 (6th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 494 U.S. 1056 (1990); Am. Greetings Corp. v. Cohn, 839 F.2d 1164, 1169 (6th Cir. 1988); Kerry Steel, Inc. v. Paragon Indus., Inc., 106 F.3d 147, 151 (6th Cir. 1987) ("It is immaterial that Paragon placed telephone calls and sent faxes to Kerry Steel in Michigan."); Scullin Steel Co. v. Nat'l Ry. Utilization Corp., 676 F.2d 309, 314 (8th Cir. 1982) ("The use of interstate facilities (telephone, the mail), the making of payments in the forum state, and the provision for delivery within the forum state are secondary or ancillary factors and cannot alone provide the 'minimum contacts' required by due process"); Aaron Ferer & Sons. Co., 558 F.2d at 455 ("The letters and telephone calls in this purely commercial setting did not supply the necessary minimal contact."). Plaintiff tried to bolster its argument by citing to Southern Idaho Piper & Steel Co. v. Cal-Cut Pipe & Supply, Inc., 98 Idaho 495, 567 P.2d 1246 (1977), to suggest that the contacts with Idaho

were not the unilateral activity of Plaintiff. However, *Southern Idaho Pipe & Steel Co.* involves a multitude of communications including contacts with more than one business in the state and affirmative solicitation via advertising circulars. 98 Idaho at 497, 567 P.2d at 1248. Thus, the case is vastly different from the minimal interactions and communications Plaintiff alleges in this lawsuit and cannot support Plaintiff's argument.

Defendant never intentionally conducted any business in Idaho and any minor emails or phone calls, especially given Defendant's belief that Plaintiff was a Nevada entity based on Plaintiff's own assertions, cannot create an impression of purposeful availment. If a plaintiff can subject a defendant to personal jurisdiction in any location by requiring the defendant to mail a check to a particular jurisdiction after a contract was formed, the entire concept of *voluntary* purposeful availment would become futile. Plaintiff forced Defendant to send mail and email to Plaintiff in Idaho by their request; Defendant did not intend to subject itself to suit in Idaho or to purposefully avail itself of doing business in Idaho.

The trial court correctly determined that the minor contacts were not sufficient to establish personal jurisdiction and that Defendant did not purposefully avail itself of doing business in Idaho. On appeal Plaintiff does not provide a legal basis to support a finding that Defendant purposefully availed itself of doing business in Idaho.

# B. Subjecting Defendant to Idaho jurisdiction would not comport with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

Even assuming Defendant had purposefully availed itself of Idaho jurisdiction, exercising personal jurisdiction over Defendant must comport with "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Smalley*, 130 Idaho at 913, 950 P.2d at 1252. This determination analyzes: (1) the burden on the defendant; (2) the forum state's interest in adjudicating the dispute; (3) the plaintiff's interest in obtaining the most convenient and effective relief; (4) the interstate judicial system's interest in obtaining the most efficient resolution of controversies; and (5) the shared interest of the several states in furthering fundamental substantive social policies. *Id.*; *see also CE Distrib., LLC v. New Sensor Corp.*, 380 F.4d 1107, 1112 (9th Cir. 2004) (additionally considering "the extent of the defendants' purposeful interjection into the forum state's affairs" and "the existence of an alternative forum").

However, a comprehensive and calculated analysis of those factors is unnecessary in this matter as it distracts from the simple fact that this lawsuit involves a dispute between two Nevada companies involving the salaries of Nevada construction workers who worked on a solar plant in Nevada. *See Aaron Ferer & Sons Co.*, 558 F.2d at 455 (holding that exercising personal jurisdiction over the defendant would offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice in part because the "contracts at issue here were not to be performed in any part" within the forum state and thus have "no substantial connection" to the forum state). Although Plaintiff's Complaint attempts to minimize the common "Nevada" thread that binds the domicile of the parties, the alleged substance of the contract (i.e., to obtain Nevada workers) and

the place of contractual performance (i.e., Nevada) resonates with a Nevada theme throughout the entire dispute and cannot be overstated. Although Plaintiff may prefer the convenience of litigating the matter in Idaho because its officers reside in Idaho, such "convenience...is not determinative." *Id.* The notions of fair play and substantial justice warrant litigating the dispute in Nevada where the parties and the center of the dispute are located, not Idaho.

# IV. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That Defendant Did Not Submit to the Jurisdiction of Idaho By Filing Its Statement of Costs and Fees.

Plaintiff makes an equally flawed and nonsensical argument that by filing its statement of costs and fees after its successful Motion to Dismiss, Defendant somehow submitted to Idaho jurisdiction. However, such an outcome, under Plaintiff's argument and draconian reading of Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 4.1 ("Rule 4.1") would allow even the simple filing of a proposed judgment to subject a defendant to Idaho jurisdiction – an outcome that is surely not the intended purpose of the Rule.

First, Defendant's Statement of Costs is not a "pleading" within the meaning of Rule 4.1 that would support a finding of voluntary submission to personal jurisdiction. Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 7(a) defines a pleading as a complaint and answer, a reply to a counterclaim, an answer to a cross-claim, a third-party complaint, a third-party answer, and a reply to an answer or a third-party answer. *See Rhino Metals, Inc. v. Craft*, 146 Idaho 319, 321, 193 P.3d 866, 868 (2008). Thus a "pleading" is "[a] formal document in which a party to a legal proceeding

([especially] a civil lawsuit) sets forth or responds to allegations, claims, denials, or defenses," not a statement of costs. *See* Black's Law Dictionary 573 (4th pocket ed. 2011).

Second, Rule 4.1 does not define "appearance," and as a result Idaho courts have determined that an appearance is conduct by a defendant that "evidenced an intent to defend the action." *See Donaldson*, 111 Idaho at 954, 729 P.2d at 429. Similar to the letter sent by the husband to the court in *Donaldson*, Defendant's Statement of Costs does not evidence an intent to defend against Plaintiff's claims in Idaho. The Statement of Costs is rather a filing meant to comply with Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54 and Idaho Code §12-120(1).

Third, Defendant did not seek affirmative relief. Plaintiff's only support for its argument otherwise is a citation to the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. Plaintiff ignores that Idaho Code \$12-120(1) provides:

In any action where the amount pleaded is thirty-five thousand dollars (\$35,000) or less, there <u>shall</u> be taxed and allowed to the prevailing party, as part of the costs of the action, a reasonable amount to be fixed by the court as attorney's fees.

Idaho Code §12-120(1) (emphasis added). Plaintiff also ignores that Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54 further provides for an award of attorneys' fees and costs. The rule states:

Parties entitled to Costs. Except when otherwise limited by these rules, <u>costs shall be allowed as a matter of right</u> to the prevailing party or parties, unless otherwise ordered by the court.

Attorney Fees as Costs. Attorney fees, when allowable by statutes or contract, shall be deemed as costs in an action and processed in the same manner as costs and included in the memorandum of costs; provided, however, the claim for attorney fees as costs shall be supported by an affidavit of the attorney stating the basis and method of computation of the attorney fees claimed.

Idaho R. Civ. P. 54(d)(1)(A), (e)(5) (emphasis added); see also id. 54(d)(5) (requiring that a memorandum of costs be filed no later than 14 days after judgment).

The Idaho Supreme Court categorizes a post-judgment request for fees and costs as a collateral issue. *Inland Group of Companies, Inc. v. Obendorff*, 131 Idaho 473, 475, 959 P.2d 454, 456 (1998) (citation omitted). A collateral issue does not "go to the merits of the action." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Defendant's Statement of Costs did not seek affirmative relief. Defendant was not only able to, but also required to file a memorandum of costs for the trial court to tax. *See* I.C. §12-120(1); Idaho R. Civ. P. 54; *Cf. Profits Plus Capital Mgmt., LLC v. Podesta*, 156 Idaho 873, 881, 332 P.3d 785, 793 (2014), *reh'g denied* (sept. 15, 2014) (holding a compulsory counterclaim filing was not a voluntary appearance to waive the defendant's personal jurisdiction).

Fourth, courts across the country have overwhelmingly established that a defendant's statement of costs or request for fees pursuant to a successful motion to dismiss a claim does not constitute a general appearance for purposes of personal jurisdiction. *See Two Worlds United v.* 

Zylstra, 46 So. 3d 1175, 1177 (Fla. App. 2010); Gognat v. Ellsworth, 224 P.3d 1039, 1055 (Colo. App. 2009) ("This conclusion [i.e., seeking fees as part of a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction does not constitute a general appearance] is consistent with the holdings of most courts that have addressed this question."); Heineken v. Heineken, 683 So. 2d 194, 197-98 (Fl. App. 1996) (holding that a motion for attorneys' fees and costs incurred in the motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction is not an attempt to seek affirmative relief and waiver of a personal jurisdiction defense); Grange Ins. Ass'n v. State, 757 P.2d 933 (Wash. 1988) (rejecting argument that the State of Idaho waived its right to object to jurisdiction when it asked the trial court to award attorneys' fees as part of its motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction). Most of these decisions involve an attorney fee motion or application far more comprehensive than the simple statement of costs at issue here. See Two Worlds United v. Zylstra, 46 So. 3d at 1177; Gognat, 224 P.3d at 1055; Heineken, 683 So. 2d at 197-98; Grange Ins. Ass'n, 757 P.2d at 940.

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